2000

# Kenneth M. Hall v. Debora Hall : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

**JURISDICTIONAL AUTHORITY**

Jurisdiction to review the final order and judgment entered herein is vested in the Utah Court of Appeals pursuant to Utah Code Annotated §78-2a-3(2)(h) (1953, as amended).

## **NATURE OF THE PROCEEDINGS**

This appeal is from a decree of divorce and supporting findings of fact and conclusions of law dated February 7, 2000, and the amended findings of fact, conclusions of law and amended decree of divorce entered on November 17, 2000.

## **ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL AND STANDARD OF REVIEW**

The issues presented for review in this case are:

1. Did the Appellant agree that the forty acres of undeveloped land would not be part of the marital estate? The standard of review relative to this issue is the clearly erroneous standard see *Barnes v. Barnes*, 857 P.2d 257, 259 (Utah App. 1993) (citing *Richie v. Richie*, 784 P.2d 465, 467 (Utah App. 1989)).

2. Did the property awarded to Appellee in her previous marriage become a marital asset during her marriage to Appellant? The standard of review applicable to this issue is the abuse of discretion standard. See *Whitehead v. Whitehead*, 836 P.2d 814, 816 (Utah App. 1992).

3. Was the property award to the Appellant equitable? The standard of review relative to this issue is the abuse of discretion standard. See *Crockett v. Crockett*, 836 P.2d 818, 820 (Utah App. 1992) (quoting *Turner v. Turner*, 649 P.2d 6, 8 (Utah 1982)).

## **STATUTORY PROVISIONS**

### **STATUTES**

Utah Code Annotated §78-2a-3(2)(h) (1953, as amended)

Utah Code Annotated §30-3-5(1) (1953, as amended)

### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

This is an appeal from an amended decree of divorce entered on November 17, 2000. A bench trial was held on November 24, 1999, at the conclusion of which the court took the matter under advisement. A memorandum decision was handed down on December 20, 1999. On January 3, 2000, the Appellant filed a motion for reconsideration of the memorandum decision which was denied by the court on February 7, 2000. Following the preparation of the findings of fact and conclusions of law and the filing of objections thereto by the Appellant, a decree of divorce and supporting findings of fact and conclusions of law were signed on February 7, 2000, and amended findings of fact, conclusions of law and an amended decree of divorce were signed on November 17, 2000. Appellant filed his notice of appeal on December 7, 2000.

### **FACTS**

The following factual presentation represents a marshalling of the evidence presented by Appellant and Appellee at the trial court level.

(For ease of reference, the Petitioner/Appellant will be referenced throughout the remainder of this brief as “Ken” and Respondent/Appellee as “Debora”. References to the



pleadings in the record on appeal are by the letter "R" followed by the arabic number placed on the pleading during the pagination process. In some cases, the letter "P" is used to indicate the paragraph number of the document. References to the trial transcript are identified by the letters Tp followed by the page number of the transcript. Exhibits are referred to by the exhibit number. Other major documents are in the Addendum.)

1. During their marriage, the parties lived at 18185 West 1540 North, Fairfield, Utah which comprised a home on one acre and 40 adjacent unimproved acres of pasture land, some irrigated and some unirrigated, and twenty-five shares of water stock purchased with the land, all hereinafter referred to as the "Property". R. 11 P 6

2. The Property was awarded to Debora in her previous divorce. See Exhibit 10 P 7.

3. In that divorce action, Civil No. 914400172, one of the Judges of the Fourth Judicial District Court found that

A. at July 22, 1992, the Property had an \$80,000 value, see Exhibit 10 P 6, and

B. the Property was encumbered by a \$44,353 debt owed to Earl and Gayle Crossman, evidenced by a trust deed note dated November 22, 1985, signed by Debora and her former husband, Vernaar J. Wilson. See Exhibit 11.

4. The Property was awarded to Debora, subject to the indebtedness owed to Crossmans, leaving her an equity at July 22, 1992, of \$35,646.77. See Exhibit 10 P 6.

5. The trust deed held by the Crossmans covered the Property i.e. the home, the one acre, the forty acres of irrigated and unirrigated pasture and the twenty-five shares of water stock. See Exhibit 11.

6. The debt to the Crossmans was due in March of 1993, eight months after Ken and Debora were married. See Exhibit 11.

7. Ken had no legal obligation to the Crossmans. See Exhibit 11.

8. As a veteran of the Persian Gulf War, Ken had the right to obtain one V.A. loan. Tp. 50 line 18.

9. Debora could not apply for a loan from First Security Bank until she had worked there for one year. Tp. 57 line 7.

10. Debora knew that First Security Bank would not loan money on raw land. Tp. 60 line 3.

11. On March 11, 1993, Ken obtained a \$52,852 V.A. loan through First Security Bank. See Exhibit 12.

12. Both Ken and Debora signed the V.A. loan. See Exhibit 12.

13. The loan proceeds were used to pay Debora's debt to the Crossmans and make improvements to the home in which the parties resided during their marriage. Tp. 68 line 2.

14. Ken testified that at no time prior to obtaining the V.A. loan to pay Crossmans and make improvements to the house did the parties

A. discuss dividing the Property. Tp. 45.

B. discuss that all Ken would receive was an interest in the house and 1 acre. Tp. 45.

15. Ken testified that he would not have utilized his VA entitlement if he had been told by Debora that all he would receive was an interest in the house and 1 acre. Tp. 45.

16. Debora testified that prior to obtaining the V.A. loan to pay Crossmans and make repairs to the house

A. she did not deed an interest in the 40 acres to Ken. Tp 60 line 19.

B. Ken knew exactly how Debora felt about it. Tp 60 line 19.

17. There exists no written agreement between the parties wherein Ken agreed to obtain a VA loan in exchange for a one half interest in only the home and one acre and not in the adjacent forty acres.

18. Monthly payments on the V.A. loan were made by Ken and Debora from their joint earnings during the marriage and, since their separation in September of 1998, each paid one half of the monthly payment as ordered by the court in the temporary mutual restraining order and order on order to show cause dated November 2, 1998.

19. At the time of trial,

A. the balance owed under the V.A. loan, sold by First Security Bank to Countrywide Funding, was approximately \$44,500

B. the house and one acre had a fair market value of \$111,000, see Exhibits 7 and 8, and

C. the vacant acreage had a fair market value of \$157,600. See Exhibit 9.

20. At the conclusion of the trial, the trial court took the matter under advisement and on December 20, 1999, issued a memorandum decision in which, among other things, the court ruled that the home and one acre comprised a marital asset but that the adjacent forty acre parcel was not a marital asset and awarded the same to Debora as her sole and separate property.

21. After the court issued its memorandum decision and prior to the entry of the decree of divorce, Ken filed a motion for reconsideration.

22. By its February 7, 2000 ruling, the trial court denied Ken's motion.

23. Pursuant to the court's memorandum decision and its ruling on Ken's motion for reconsideration, amended findings of fact, conclusions of law and an amended decree of divorce were entered on November 17, 2000.

24 Ken filed a notice of appeal on December 7, 2000.

### **ARGUMENT**

**POINT 1.** There is no evidence that Ken understood that the 40 acres of undeveloped land would not be part of the marital estate.

In its amended findings of fact at paragraph 16, the trial court found that at the time of the signing of the V.A. loan documents, the parties discussed the remaining 40 acres with Debora stating that such was to remain her separate property.

A close examination of the evidence clearly shows that there is nothing to support this finding and, therefore, that it is clearly erroneous.

There is no written document stating that at the time he took out the V.A. loan, Ken understood that the 40 acres of undeveloped land would not be part of the marital estate.

The only evidence presented on this point was the testimony of the parties:

Debora testified at Tp. 60, as follows:

Q But at any time did you ever deed him any interest in what we referred to as the acreage or the raw—

A No. He knew exactly how I felt about it.

Ken testified at Tp. 45, as follows:

Q Was there ever a discussion between you and Debbie prior to the time that you signed on that \$52,000 loan of dividing up that property?

A. No.

Q Was there ever a discussion between the two of you where she said if you take out a \$52,000 loan with me to pay off this obligation the only thing you will get out of it is a deed to the house and the one acre?

A. No.

Q If she had told you that, would you have signed on the \$52,000 loan?

A Most definitely not.

The foregoing testimony gives no support whatsoever to the finding of the trial court that the 40 acres was to remain the sole property of Debora and did not become part of the marital estate.

**POINT 2.** All property awarded to Debora in her previous marriage became marital property during her marriage to Ken when he utilized his V.A. entitlement to pay for it.

One question presented by this case is whether or not all of the real property awarded to the Debora in her previous marriage became marital property during her marriage to Ken.

A similar situation existed in the case of *Workman v. Workman*, 652 P.2d 931(Utah 1982). Shortly after the parties were married, they sold the wife's home in Heber City and with the proceeds, purchased the Park City home from the husband's mother by paying her \$1,500 and paying the State of Utah \$4,500 to extinguish its lien on the property. Based upon these facts, the trial court awarded the wife one half interest in the parties' Park City home and the husband appealed. The Utah Supreme Court upheld the award to the wife by stating, at page 933

Assuming arguendo that the property was validly conveyed to the husband prior to the marriage, it does not follow that it must be awarded solely to him in a property settlement, especially where the wife has used her separate resources to purchase the property from the husband's mother and to clear pending liens.

To further support the award, the high court quoted its ruling in *Jackson v. Jackson*, 617 P.2d 338, 340, 1(Utah 1980), which states that

The state of title to marital property prior to a divorce decree is not necessarily binding on the trial court in its distribution of such property pursuant to such decree. The trial court is empowered to make such distributions as are just and equitable, and may compel such conveyances as are necessary to that end.

These cases support an award of one half of the Property to Ken on the basis that he used his separate resources to pay the \$44,353 debt to Mr. Crossman i.e. he took out a V.A. loan and made payments on said loan for 7 years and 8 months.

**POINT 3** Equity demands that the Property was part of the marital estate.

Ken understands that under the Utah Supreme Court case of *Turner v. Turner*, 649 P.2d 6, 8 (Utah 1982), an appellate court may weigh the evidence and substitute its judgment for that of the trial court in divorce actions but it will not do so lightly and merely because its judgment differs from that of the trial judge. A trial court's apportionment of marital property will not be disturbed unless there has been manifest injustice or inequity showing a clear abuse of discretion.

Ken urges that the facts of this case clearly show injustice and inequity by the court's determination that the 40 acre parcel was not part of the marital estate. Most

persuasive is the fact that but for Ken utilizing his V.A. entitlement, Debora would have lost the Property which was the only asset she received from her first marriage. In as much as the trust deed held by the Crossmens was secured by all of the Property not just a portion thereof, it was unfair and unjust for the trial court to determine that Ken's V.A. loan purchased the entire Property but only a portion thereof became part of the marital estate.

Of equal importance is an analysis of the math at the time Ken borrowed money to pay Debora's debt:

#### Scenario I

Prior to paying the Crossmens, there was no marital estate equity.

Value of the Property	\$80,000
Debt to the Crossmens	44,353
Debora's equity	35,647
Marital estate equity	-0-

#### Scenario II

After the Crossmens were paid, there was no marital estate equity.

Value of Property	\$80,000
V.A. Loan	52,852
Debora's equity	35,647
Marital estate equity	< 1,501 >



Ken obligated himself to pay a \$52,852 loan and in return believed he was entitled to a one-half interest in the Property. What he did to help Debora was in the context of a husband and wife relationship; it was not an arms length business deal.