2000

# Kenneth M. Hall v. Debora Hall : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

**JURISDICTIONAL AUTHORITY**

Appellee concurs with Appellants statement of Jurisdiction.

### **NATURE OF THE PROCEEDINGS**

Appellee concurs with Appellant's statement of the nature of the proceedings.

### **ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL AND STANDARD OF REVIEW**

Appellant accepts Appellee's statement of the issues presented to this Court and the standard of review as stated in Appellant's Brief.

### **STATUTORY PROVISIONS**

Appellant has correctly referenced the applicable statutory provisions within Appellant's Brief.

### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

Appellee concurs with Appellants statement of the case as presented within Appellant's Brief.

### **FACTS**

Appellee shall also refer to the parties herein as Ken and Debora for ease of reference. Appellee shall use the same notation as Appellant in referring to pleadings in the Record, paragraph numbers, and the trial transcript.

The parties do not disagree on the statement of facts until paragraph 14 of said in Appellant's Brief. At that point the facts as seen by the parties seriously Statement diverge.

## **DISPUTED FACTS**

1. The parties did discuss dividing the property prior to the loan.

A. Testimony of Debora at p. 60 lines 1 through 19 of Tp.

B. Defendant's Exhibit 1 (Plaintiff's Exhibit's 4 and 11) containing both the Trust Deed Note for the loan of March 11, 1993 and the Quitclaim Deed of even date granting to Ken an interest in the house and one acre but not in the raw land.

2. Appellant claims (paragraph 17, page 6, Appellant's Brief) there was no written agreement between the parties wherein Ken agreed to obtain a VA loan in exchange for a one half interest in only the home and one acre and not in the adjacent forty acres. Again Appellee references

A. Testimony of Debora at p. 60 lines 1 through 19 of Tp.

B. Defendant's Exhibit 1 (Plaintiff's Exhibit's 4 and 11) containing both the Trust Deed Note for the loan of March 11, 1993 and the Quitclaim Deed of even date granting Ken an interest in the house and one acre but not in the raw land.

## **ARGUMENT**

Point1. Appellant argues there is no evidence that Ken understood that the forty acres of undeveloped land would not be part of the marital estate. Appellant further references the amended findings of fact at paragraph 16 where the trial court found that at the time of the signing of the V.A. loan documents, the parties discussed the remaining 40 acres with Debora stating that such was to remain her separate property.



Appellant claims the referenced finding is clearly erroneous for lack of any evidence in support thereof.

Debora testified at Tp. 60 as follows:

Q: Were there conversations after the marriage and before taking out the loan or about the same time frame?

A: We went in and spoke with Linda Whitehead at First Security Bank, and it was discussed that the First Security Bank would not loan on raw land.

Q: So you went in and that was discussed. Are you saying that you and Ken were both present?

A: Yes. We were both present.

Q: Were there asny other discussions about --

A: Well, numerous discussions throughout the marriage about it. It was always a sore spot with Ken, because he had had property at one time and didn't have it anymore. At one time he was trying to talk to me into signing over some property, so he could go down and file a farm plate on his truck, anything to try to keep his name on some of the property.

Q: But at any time did you ever deed him any interest in what we referred to as the acreage or the raw--

A: No. He knew exactly how I felt about it.

Additionally, at trial as portion of Defendant's Exhibit 1 and also as Plaintiff's

Exhibits 4 and 11 the Court received both the Trust Deed Note of March 11, 1993 and the Quitclaim Deed of the same date by which Ken received from Debora an interest in the house and one acre. Had Ken any objection to this arrangement, March 11, 1993 would have been the appropriate time to make objection, since he had control of the situation due his VA loan entitlement.

The Court was fully justified in finding as it did that the parties at the time of signing the VA loan had discussed the remaining 40 acres with Debora stating that such was to remain her separate property. The finding of the trial court was not clearly erroneous, but fully justified by the totality of testimony and evidence.

Point 2: Appellant asserts all property awarded to Debora in her previous marriage became marital property during her marriage to Ken when he utilized his V.A. entitlement to pay for it.

In support of this assertion Appellant references the case of *Workman v. Workman*, 652 P. 2d 931(Utah) 1982). The present case can readily be differentiated from *Workman* due to significant factual differences. In *Workman*, the wife paid from her own funds to clear liens against a house purchased by the parties. These funds apparently included the monies realized by the sale of a home which had been her separate property. In our present case, Ken expended no financial resources at the time of the financing with First Security Bank, but rather, used his Veteran's Benefits. Ken received for this a full one-half interest in the house and one acre for his pledge of benefits. This constituted a

substantial consideration being paid to Ken. Additionally, unlike Workman, these parties were not buying a house.

Appellant further references *Jackson v. Jackson*, 617 P.2d 338, 340,1 (Utah 1980) for the proposition that the status of property prior to a divorce decree is not binding on the trial court in making a property distribution. (Quoting)

"The trial court is empowered to make such distributions as are just and equitable, and may compel such conveyances as are necessary to that end."

It follows from this very language that the trial court, in seeking equity may also decline to order conveyance of property, such as it did in the present case.

In further support of the Appellee's position on this point the Court's attention is drawn to the Ruling of Judge Burningham issued February 7, 2000, attached to this Brief, in which he also differentiates the present case from both Workman and Jackson.

The court properly exercised discretionary power in ruling that no interest in the raw land would be ordered conveyed to Ken as part of the Divorce Decree.

Point 3. Appellant asserts that equity demands that the property was part of the marital estate. To support this claim Appellant presents what it refers to as Scenario I and Scenario II to allegedly show that there was no marital estate equity in the house and one acre after the making of the VA loan.

Appellant's Scenario II, the post VA loan scenario, overlooks paragraph 15 of the amended Findings of Fact in this case. That paragraph reads: "After this loan, the equity remaining in the house and one acre was approximately \$32,000.00, of which one-half

then belonged to each party as their share of what had then become marital property."

Judge Burningham clearly took into account the contribution of Ken's VA entitlement as having a value and found that Ken immediately realized a \$16,000.00 gain by the pledge of his entitlement.

Paragraph 27 of the amended findings of fact and conclusions of law went on to determine the equity in the property at the time of divorce to be \$43,000.00, after deduction of debts owing by both parties and therefore determined Ken had an equity interest of one half of \$43,000.00.